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For Bridgett, Kaya and Quinn


‘The investigator […] has a twofold responsibility: to clear the innocent as well as to expose the guilty […] – the Truth in a Nutshell.’


Frances Glessner Lee
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Foreword


I first encountered Frances Glessner Lee’s dioramas as a young doctor in 2003, when I travelled to Baltimore to interview for a position at the Maryland Office of the Chief Medical Examiner. The chief, Dr David Fowler, asked if I had seen the Nutshell Studies. I told him, honestly, that I had no idea what he was talking about. Fowler then escorted me into a dark room and switched on the lights. Pushed into a corner, some hidden under sheets to keep the dust off, were a bunch of little boxes, and inside those, enclosed in plexiglass, I discovered a precious and intricate world of violence and death.


The Nutshell Studies of Unexplained Death are miniature death scenes. I scrutinized them. In one of the tiny rooms, I noticed the dotted pattern on the tiled floor and the incredibly precise floral wallpaper. Another showed a wooden cabin with a kitchen and bunk beds. There were snowshoes in the attic, a pot on the counter. I played with dolls’ houses as a girl and would regularly beg my father to drive us to the miniatures store hours away from our home in order to purchase supplies for my own tiny world, but I had never seen dolls’ houses this sophisticated before. To make plates for my dolls, I would pop out the plastic liner inside bottle caps. The plates in the Nutshell Studies were made of porcelain. Porcelain! The labels on the cans stacked on the kitchen shelves and the headlines on the newspapers were legible. I couldn’t stop peering at the details.


Among those details, of course, were the blood spatters on the wallpaper, the grotesquely charred remains of a body on a burned bed, a man with a purple head hanging from a noose. These were no ordinary dolls’ houses. This was not child’s play. What was I looking at? Who made these? And the most compelling question: what had happened here, in each of these stories frozen in miniature?


I had come to the interview in Baltimore after two years of training as a forensic pathologist at the New York City Office of the Chief Medical Examiner (OCME). Part of my education there included going to death scenes with the medico-legal investigators from the office, learning what to look for at a scene and what I might find there that would help inform my final determination of cause and manner of death in the sudden, unexpected and violent stories we were tasked by law with investigating. This is how you learn death investigation anywhere – through on-the-job training.


Still, there was always something uncomfortably voyeuristic about entering someone’s home unannounced and going through their medicine cabinet, rubbish bins and refrigerator as part of the process of trying to find out why they were lying dead on the floor. The investigators at the New York City OCME were certified professionals, and they told me where to focus my attention and what to look – and smell and listen and feel – for. The medicine cabinet would hold evidence of the deceased’s ailments. A big bottle of antacids could mean they suffered from gastrointestinal problems, but it could also be a clue pointing to undiagnosed heart disease. Prescription drug bottles might indicate whether those medicines were being used as directed, underutilized or abused. The wastebasket might hold unpaid bills, eviction notices or an abandoned draft of a suicide note. The refrigerator could be full of food or empty except for a single vodka bottle. If the food was fresh, so was the body, most likely. If it was rotting… then it could help us confirm the degree of decomposition we were observing in the deceased, in an effort to hammer down the time of death.


Everything at a death scene is part of the story, and it was the details I would find there that mattered most. I couldn’t interview the patient. The surrounding environment was the medical history I would rely upon the next day, in the morgue, when I would perform the forensic autopsy and add those findings to the findings from the scene. As my mentor, the late Dr Charles Hirsch, long-serving chief medical examiner for the city of New York, taught all of us who were fortunate enough to work for him, the autopsy is only part of the death investigation.


It was during my autopsy training in New York that I also learned the scene findings weren’t necessarily revealing. They could be irrelevant. They could be misleading. At the scene, the gun in the dead man’s hand and the witness who said that he was depressed suggested a suicide; but in the morgue, the absence of powder burns or stippling on his bare skin told me the gun had to have been fired from at least 75cm (30in) away. He had been murdered, and the scene staged to look like a suicide. The dead woman in her apartment appeared to have died peacefully in her sleep. The next day, in the morgue, her naked dissected body showed the deep bruises under the unblemished skin of her neck, and the petechial haemorrhages in the whites of her eyes were witness to homicidal strangulation. I learned that what you see at the scene can inform what you see in the morgue, but it cannot replace it.


Peering into the unique and incomparable scenes encased in the Nutshell Studies, I was taken back in time to a period in history when death investigation was beginning to emerge as a scientific discipline, and doctors were just starting to challenge the primacy of coroners and police detectives in distinguishing criminal acts from other types of death. Here was the work of both a gifted artisan and a medical expert, joining her skills to create something more than science and deeper than art. The exhibits were designed to be functional, educational and fully decipherable – but the interpretation of each scene could change based on the medical information provided by autopsy findings. There is something about peering into a room from above, at dolls rather than at moving, living people (or their no-longer-moving, no-longer-living bodies), that allows you the time and space to train your eye, that makes you notice the details. I realized the Nutshell Studies were my on-the-job training with the New York OCME death investigators, but in miniature. The skills I had learned from those investigators in life-size apartments and homes, businesses and construction sites could be honed here, too, from many types of scene at once, and in minute detail. I was awed by the time and effort it must have taken to create such elaborate, complex and perplexing scenarios, and by how much could be gleaned from close observation of them.


When I first viewed those dioramas, stashed away in the back room of the Baltimore OCME’s office, they had been in storage for years, and they were not in the best shape. Their only pupils seemed to be the staff of the medical examiner’s office, who occasionally brought in visitors to look at them as historical curiosities. There was no way for the public to see them. As far as I knew, despite their age and condition, they were still being used for training death investigators. Still, it seemed to me a sad fate for such a remarkable body of work.


In subsequent years, and with the dedicated attention of Bruce Goldfarb, an administrator at the Baltimore OCME and the author of this book, Frances Lee’s Nutshell Studies of Unexplained Death have been repaired, renovated and preserved. They were displayed at the Smithsonian Institution in 2017 and 2018, and they have been publicized in books and magazines and on the internet. This book is a culmination of years of historical research using primary sources, including the papers of Frances Glessner Lee herself. It is the story of how one stubborn, intelligent and creative self-taught woman immersed herself in a passion that had immense repercussions in the fields of both medicine and the law. Goldfarb places Frances Glessner Lee and her intelligence, influence, wealth and forceful personality in context within the world of medico-legal death investigation. As this absorbing and evocative book will show you, Frances Glessner Lee should be recognized as the matriarch of the modern practice of forensic pathology.


Her 18 Tiny Deaths have made a whole world of difference.


Dr Judy Melinek, forensic pathologist and co-author (with T J Mitchell) of the memoir Working Stiff: Two Years, 262 Bodies, and the Making of a Medical Examiner and First Cut, the debut in a series of forensic noir detective novels




CHAPTER 1


Legal Medicine


1944


Seventeen pathologists and medical examiners, all dressed in dark suits and ties, sat around a long table in a wood-panelled conference room on the third floor of Building E-1 of Harvard Medical School. It was the autumn of 1944. Thousands of miles away, war ravaged Europe and the Pacific islands. The men had gathered to attend a seminar on legal medicine, a field that would later be known as forensic science: the application of medicine to matters of law and justice.


Dr Alan R Moritz broke the grim news to the group. Unfortunately, Captain Frances Glessner Lee, her preferred title since being made an officer in the New Hampshire State Police the previous year, was unable to attend the seminar as planned. She had fractured her right tibia in a fall and subsequently suffered two heart attacks.1


As trained professionals affiliated with one of America’s most prestigious medical institutions, the men well understood the grave prognostic implications for a woman almost sixty-seven years of age with a constellation of health problems. The heart attacks were the latest setback of encroaching infirmity that increasingly limited Lee’s ability to function day to day. Now she faced a long period of strict bed rest under the watchful care of a physician.


For Moritz, one of the nation’s leading pathologists, Lee’s absence was a personal and professional loss. The seminar participants, for their part, would miss the benefit of her encyclopaedic knowledge of legal medicine as well as the civilizing effect of her presence.


Lee’s seminar curriculum was intended to provide the men with specialized knowledge to probe unexpected and unexplained deaths, including how to estimate the time of death, assess decomposition and other postmortem changes, differentiate blunt- and sharp-force injuries and explore related areas of death investigation. No other medical school in America offered anything like it.


Lee was an improbable figure to assume the mantle of authority in the emerging field of legal medicine. A decorous grandmother with a preference for brimless Queen Mary hats and black dresses she sewed herself, she was an independently wealthy scion of Chicago society in the Gilded Age – a term coined by author Mark Twain for the last few decades of the nineteenth century, which he considered glittering on the surface but corrupt underneath. Often a difficult woman with impossibly exacting standards and an almost fanatical sense of purpose, Lee was more than just a guiding presence for Harvard’s legal medicine programme. By the force of her personality and the spending of a substantial portion of her personal wealth, she was nearly single-handedly responsible for the establishment of legal medicine in the United States and her influence was recognized at Scotland Yard and around the world.


As a reformer, educator and advocate, her influence on the field was immeasurable. This genteel matron was respected as one of legal medicine’s leading authorities. But getting to that point had not been easy. ‘Men are dubious of an elderly woman with a cause,’ Lee once said. ‘My problem is to convince them that I am not trying to butt in or run anything. Also, I have to sell them on the fact that I know what I am talking about.’2


In the seven years since Lee had approved hiring Moritz to chair the country’s first academic programme in legal medicine, the two had been working on an innovative project that could potentially revolutionize the investigation of unexpected and suspicious deaths: an intensive week-long seminar on legal medicine for police officers. The ambitious curriculum they had mapped out was groundbreaking, intended to train police in modern scientific forensic methods.


For the better part of two years, Lee had also been working obsessively on a series of intricately detailed scale-model dioramas designed to teach crime-scene observation: the identification of clues that might be important in determining the cause and manner of deaths that were unexpected, sudden or the result of injury. She called the models the ‘Nutshell Studies of Unexplained Death’. Now, because of her illness, Lee’s and Moritz’s plans seemed doomed.


‘The models are none of them finished and none of them can be finished,’ Lee wrote to Moritz while recuperating at The Rocks, her 1,500-acre estate near Littleton, New Hampshire. ‘I hope you will agree with me that under these circumstances the Police Seminar should not be held.’3


In the Building E-1 conference room, the men paused in their sombre studies to draft a resolution for Moritz to deliver to Lee:




Resolved, that Mrs Frances G Lee shall have the everlasting gratitude of all those attending the Seminar in Legal Medicine at Harvard Medical School in 1944, and that all those present extend their profound thanks and appreciation for her philanthropy, which has made possible the holding of these seminars, which, in turn, have done so much to advance the cause of legal medicine; and that it is the sincere hope of all of those present that Mrs Lee will soon be fully restored to her normal health and activities.4





* * *


To appreciate Captain Lee’s pioneering work in legal medicine, it is necessary to travel back in time and understand how societies have dealt with death, especially unexpected or unexplained death, over the centuries.


A little more than 1.4 million Americans died during the year of 1944, according to the Vital Statistics of the United States. Most of them were at home or in hospitals. Their deaths were attended by a doctor, nurse or family member. They were known to have an illness or disease, became progressively worse and then died.


Historically, however, about one in five deaths are sudden and unexpected.5 These involve people not known to be ill, who die by violence or injury or under unexplained circumstances. Of these 283,000 or so questionable deaths in the US in 1944, no more than one or two per cent – a few thousand at most – were investigated by qualified medical examiners: doctors with specialized training to diagnose the cause and manner of death. At that time, only a handful of East Coast cities – Boston, New York, Baltimore and Newark – had competent medical examiners who were trained in legal medicine and had properly equipped offices. The vast majority of the United States still used the coroner system, an archaic throwback to medieval England.


Despite its universality as an inevitable fact, the occasion of death has always held a special place in human experience. Intellectually, we know it happens to all of us and everyone we know, but when somebody dies it’s still shocking and upsetting. The need for answers is deeply rooted. What happened? Why did this person die?


The earliest methodical inquiries into the nature of a death were mostly concerned with suicide. Through human history, suicide has been viewed as an act of defiance against God or authority or a crime against oneself known as felo de se. Soldiers of the Roman Empire who took their own lives were considered deserters. Some cemeteries prohibited the burial of a person who had died by their own hand.6


In medieval England, the ‘keeper of the pleas of the Crown’, an official known as the ‘crowner’ (later corrupted into coroner), served as the royal judicial representative and had a variety of responsibilities. One of his primary duties was collecting money owed to the monarchy: mainly taxes and fines. He was tasked with serving writs from the court – orders and summonses; he was also authorized to seize royal fishes: sturgeon, porpoise and other sea creatures fit only for the palate of a king – and to investigate shipwrecks and treasure troves. It was his job to make sure the Crown received its share.


Coroners also investigated deaths that were sudden or apparently unnatural, mainly to determine whether the deceased was murdered or a suicide. They were responsible for answering two questions: what caused this death and who was responsible for it? One is a medical question, while the other is a matter of criminal justice.7 Early coroners didn’t need any knowledge of medicine or the law. They held an inquest, a process that was part investigation and part adjudication. To do this, they called together an inquest jury of ten or twelve men (only adult males were allowed to participate), most of whom were illiterate farmers and many of whom had probably known the deceased or been witnesses to the death.


The coroner and the inquest jury were required to observe the dead body, often at the place where the death had occurred or the body was found. The inquest had to be held super visum corporis (‘upon viewing of the body’). Failure to view the body invalidated the proceedings. If there was no body to view, an inquest could not be held at all. The jury had to get a good look at it, not just a quick peek. They were required to examine it for signs of violence and note the presence of wounds.


Of course, without a foundation of basic medical knowledge, there is little to learn from looking at a dead body. Nonetheless, after viewing the body and hearing from witnesses, the jury rendered a verdict by holding a vote. It wasn’t very scientific.


If it was decided that the deceased had been murdered, the inquest was then required to name the killer. The coroner was authorized to charge the accused and arrest him, and it was the duty of the local sheriff to hold the accused in jail until trial. The coroner heard confessions, when they were offered, and confiscated all the property – home, land, possessions – of those who were convicted and executed. Since killing yourself was a crime against the Crown, the coroner took a deceased’s property too.


When the English colonized parts of America, they brought their common law with them. In the USA, today’s sheriff, justice of the peace and coroner are lingering vestiges of the Middle Ages.


Maryland acquired its first coroner in 1637, three years after the colony was founded, when Thomas Baldridge, a tobacco farmer, was appointed sheriff and coroner of St Mary’s County. He was given the rather vague instruction to ‘Doe all and everything…the office of sheriff or coroner of any county in England doe.’8 A more detailed description of his duties was issued in 1640:




Upon notice or suspicion of any person that hath or shall come to his or her death entirely within the limits of that hundred [an administrative division] as you conveniently may to view the dead body and to charge the said persons with an oath truly to inquire and true verdict to grant how the person viewed came upon his or her death according to the evidence.9





Two days after being appointed coroner, on 31 January 1637, Baldridge held his first inquest. A jury of twelve freemen, all tobacco farmers, was summoned to view the body of John Bryant, who had been killed while chopping down a tree. Joseph Edlow, also a tobacco farmer, had been with Bryant when it happened.10


Testifying under oath, Edlow told the inquest jury that he had warned Bryant to get out of the way. ‘John, have a care of your selfe, for the tree is falling,’ he recalled telling his friend. Edlow said that Bryant stepped back five or six paces. As the tree toppled, it glanced off another tree and rebounded onto Bryant, crushing him beneath its weight. ‘The said John Bryant spake not one word after,’ the inquest record noted.


Baldridge and the jury examined Bryant’s body and noted ‘two scratches under his chinne on the left side’. They did about as well as could be expected of a group of untrained tobacco farmers, reaching the conclusion that Bryant died because ‘his bloud bulke broke’.


As coroner, it was Baldridge’s duty to bury the body as well as to sell off Bryant’s property to settle his debts. The record of Bryant’s inquest includes a dreary inventory of his earthly possessions: ‘two suits & an old doublett’, stockings and drawers, bowls and spoons, a few scraps of furniture, a canoe, a cock and hen, and his servant, Elias Beach.


* * *


The course of human history is overall one of continual progress and advancement. Our lives were improved immeasurably by breathtaking developments in agriculture, sanitation, transportation and medicine. We tamed electricity, built railroads and invented telephones. But for the better part of three centuries, little changed in how unnatural deaths were investigated in America. For most of the country, the process remained a peculiar anachronism, a holdover from the thirteenth century bearing little relation to modern science-based medicine.


The coroner was a local official with a jurisdiction within a county or city. He might have been a sheriff, magistrate or justice of the peace; he could also have been a woodworker, baker or butcher; in many places, he was the local undertaker. The coroner got the job by being elected to office, or by being appointed to office by elected officials. As such, the position was inherently political. He didn’t get the job on the basis of his diligence and expertise but for his political affiliations and loyalties. Keeping the job depended on remaining in the good graces of voters or political leaders. Since the coroner didn’t necessarily know anything about medicine, he had help in determining the cause of each death from a doctor, known variously as the coroner’s physician, medical referee or medical examiner.


Some might argue that a coroner’s inquest may have been good enough back in the day when America was mostly rural and agrarian. Most sudden deaths were likely to be from accidents or natural causes like heart attack or stroke. On the rare occasions of a suspicious death, the culprit usually didn’t have the opportunity to travel far from the scene. There were often witnesses. Identifying a body wasn’t an issue because there were generally family or neighbours nearby. Most people didn’t travel far from where they were born, so everybody knew everybody and their business. Perhaps twelve uninformed minds using common sense were better than nothing at all.


The deficiencies of the system, however, grew more apparent as the population of urban areas swelled and the opportunities for crime increased. Within a few blocks in a big city, tens of thousands lived in ramshackle tenements. Cities teemed with vulnerable populations: transients, immigrants, people who had left the farm to seek work. A perpetrator could quickly distance himself from his deeds by streetcar or train. It was easy to vanish in a place like New York, Philadelphia, Chicago or Boston, and that made investigating suspicious deaths more difficult.11


Additionally, throughout most of the country, the coroner system was notoriously corrupt and incompetent. The coroner was in a position ripe for bribery, kickbacks and extortion. He could send bodies to undertakers willing to line his pockets. In some jurisdictions, the coroner was authorized to file charges and set bail in cases of homicide or criminal negligence, such as a workplace death – problems that could be resolved with money and influence.


Authorizing coroners to call inquests at their own discretion, for which the coroner and the inquest jurors were paid by the case, essentially gave coroners a free hand in the public treasury. Inquest juries were packed with cronies and associates who could be trusted to rubber-stamp whatever conclusion was preferred by police or prosecutors. Rather than being an asset to criminal justice, coroners often became a detriment. They unnecessarily delayed charges in cases of homicide and, due to their ineptitude, made basic errors in the performance of their duties. Coroners were often terrible witnesses in court, giving testimony that was unreliable and useless to prosecutors.


The men who served as coroners’ physicians were often no better, largely incompetent and indifferent. In the 1920s, Columbia University criminal-justice professor Raymond Moley conducted a study of coroner cases in Cuyahoga County, Ohio, which includes the city of Cleveland. He found a plethora of nonsensical causes of death, such as ‘could be suicide or murder’; ‘aunt said she complained of pneumonia, looked like narcotism’; ‘looks suspicious of strychnine poisoning’; ‘found dead’; ‘head severed from body’; ‘could be assault or diabetes’; ‘diabetes, tuberculosis, or nervous indigestion’; and ‘found crushed’.12


In 1914, a man by the name of Leonard Wallstein, New York City’s commissioner of accounts, conducted an investigation of the city’s coroner system. The commissioner of accounts is similar to an inspector general, with the authority to issue subpoenas for documents and to compel testimony.13 Word of the investigation lit a fire under coroners who had been sitting on long-overdue reports. Within a month of Wallstein’s investigation being announced, coroners filed reports on 431 potentially criminal deaths, nearly 200 of which were more than a year old and sixty-three of which were more than three years old.


After hearings with scores of witnesses, including all the city’s coroners and coroners’ physicians, Wallstein issued a scathing report in January 1915. Of all the men holding office as coroner, ‘not one was thoroughly qualified by training or experience for the adequate performance of his duties’, he wrote.


Of the sixty-five men who had served as coroner since New York City was consolidated in 1898, only nineteen were doctors. The report noted that eight were undertakers, seven were ‘politicians and chronic office-holders’, six were real-estate dealers, two were saloon keepers, two were plumbers and the remainder had previously worked in a variety of occupations that included printer, auctioneer, butcher, musician, milkman and woodcarver.


George LeBrun, who served as a coroner’s secretary for four decades, said in his testimony that New York City’s coroners were ‘outrageous crooks who dispensed “justice” for cash. Their only interest in each new case was to discover how they could extort money, and they used their office for blackmail purposes.’14


According to Wallstein’s report, coroners’ physicians were ‘drawn from the ranks of mediocrity’. Good doctors with thriving practices didn’t want to be bothered with examining dead bodies in the middle of the night or to be inconvenienced by entanglement in a legal proceeding. Doctors willing to serve as coroners’ physicians were motivated by a steady source of easy money. They often did a cursory, superficial examination of a body or none at all. The report documented instances of doctors signing stacks of death certificates at the morgue with barely a glance at the bodies.


The cause of death certified by coroners was often questionable to the point of absurdity. In one example, a man had his cause of death listed as rupture of a thoracic aneurysm, a diagnosis that had somehow been made without the benefit of an autopsy. The coroner’s report failed to mention that the man was found holding in his right hand a .38-calibre revolver with one spent round and a lethal bullet wound in his mouth.


Wallstein’s investigators reviewed 800 death certificates and found a ‘complete lack of evidence to justify the certified cause of death’ in forty per cent of the documents. When coroners’ physicians were asked why they chose one diagnosis over another with similar signs and symptoms, they often admitted an inability to explain their conclusions. They seemed to pluck diagnoses out of thin air.


The cause of death certified by coroners was so untrustworthy that health department officials testified that the city’s vital statistics would be more accurate if death certificates signed by coroners were excluded altogether.


This is not to say that all coroners were corrupt or incompetent. Certainly, there were decent men with integrity who conducted their duty in good faith. By the same token, some medical examiners were doctors unfit for the task. In their defence, doctors weren’t taught much about death in medical school, since the patients they were expected to treat were living. Diagnosing cause and manner of death was not part of the curriculum at that time.


Until midway through the twentieth century, police were also utterly unequipped for scientific homicide investigations. Few police departments required a college degree for employment, and many police officers didn’t even graduate from secondary school. As with coroners, many were unable to read and write, particularly in smaller towns and rural areas. Training for the job was minimal.


At the scene of a death, the police were often a hindrance, likely to destroy evidence by walking through blood, moving the body, handling a weapon or putting their fingers through bullet holes in clothing. What happened during those first moments influenced everything that subsequently happened in the investigation. If the police didn’t handle the scene properly – if they overlooked signs of foul play or failed to preserve evidence that was critical for determining the cause and manner of death – the case was bungled from the beginning.


In the mid- to late 1800s, the reputation of coroners in Boston, Massachusetts, was as bad as anywhere. There was no limit to the number of coroners the governor could appoint. The designation of coroner was a valuable plum to hand out as a political favour, practically a licence to steal. Before the office of medical examiner was established in 1877, Boston had forty-three coroners. The city of New York, with three times the population of Boston, had four for the entire jurisdiction. Suffolk County, Massachusetts – which includes the city of Boston – had more coroners than New York City, Philadelphia, New Orleans, Chicago, San Francisco, Baltimore and Washington, DC, combined.15


‘You have in the coroner an officer armed practically with the utmost power of the law,’ said prominent Boston attorney Theodore Tyndale:




He decides in the first place, upon his discretion, whether an inquest be necessary or not; it is obvious how large are the opportunities for corruption in this direction: that for a man whose cupidity or possibly culpability and fear are stronger than his honor and integrity, it would not be difficult to thwart justice and close the door to all judicial investigation of a crime by corruptly declaring an inquest unnecessary, and even aiding in the removal of suspicion and the concealment of the evidence and traces by authorizing a speedy burial. But if he may thus on the one hand shield the guilty and endanger the public safety, on the other the opportunities for a man prompted by malice or vindictiveness or the desire of cheap notoriety are enough, truly, to make us tremble.16





The scandal that brought matters to a head in Boston began when the body of a newborn baby was found in a rubbish bin. One of the city’s district coroners convened an inquest, which returned a verdict of ‘death at the hands of a person unknown’. Each member of the inquest jury earned two dollars and the coroner ten. But rather than show some decency, coroners saw an opportunity. The body of the baby was dumped in another district for another coroner to hold another inquest and dump the body again. Four times this decomposing baby was exploited until word of the appalling practice got out.17


That was the end of the coroner system in Boston. In 1877, lawmakers abolished coroners and inquests and placed a competent doctor in charge of death investigations.


This, then, was the world Frances Glessner Lee made it her mission to change. Before her time, progress in the field of death investigation had been slow, lurching forward only when scandals shocked the public’s sensibilities. It was her goal to modernize the investigation of sudden and unexplained deaths.


* * *


The police department of Chicago, Illinois, is older than the city itself. On 31 January 1835, two years before the city was incorporated, the Illinois General Assembly authorized Chicago to establish its own police force. Seven months later, Orsemus Morrison was elected the town’s first constable.18


As constable, Morrison carried the ‘staff of office’, a whitewashed wood baton that was more ornament than weapon, to indicate the authority of his elected position. His duties included collecting fines and taxes and serving as coroner of Cook County – in which Chicago sits – by leading inquest juries in cases of questionable deaths.


The first death that Morrison investigated was that of a visiting Frenchman found dead in the autumn of 1835. He was discovered in the early morning, half-buried in a muddy pit in ‘the woods’: an area densely overgrown with foliage bounded by LaSalle, Washington and Randolph streets – the location of the present-day City Hall. Morrison called an inquest jury. The deceased, they were told, had been staying at a hotel and had gone out for an evening walk. He had been drinking and apparently got lost and became mired in the mud pit, where he fell victim to the elements. The jury concluded that the man had frozen to death by misadventure. No evidence suggested otherwise.19


At the time of Morrison’s tenure as constable, Chicago had fewer than 4,500 inhabitants. Favourably located in proximity to the Great Lakes, railroads and the Mississippi River, it rapidly grew into a major centre of manufacturing and distribution. Agricultural equipment sold through Chicago transformed the country’s vast prairies into productive farmland. Cattle and hogs raised on farms throughout the Midwest were sent to Chicago for slaughter and from there, along with corn and grain, were shipped throughout the United States. The city became home to some of the country’s largest manufacturers and some of its wealthiest families.


During the 1800s, the population of Chicago rose at a breathtaking rate. By 1860, it was more than 100,000; in the next decade, it nearly tripled, approaching 300,000. Among the legion of young people migrating there during this period of growth were John Jacob Glessner and his wife, Frances Macbeth.


The son of a newspaper publisher, Glessner was born in 1842 and spent his formative years in Zanesville, Ohio. At the age of twenty, he struck out on his own and took a position as bookkeeper at Warder, Child & Co. in Springfield, an industrial town in the southwest part of the state. Warder, Child & Co., a maker of reapers, mowers and planters, was one of the largest farm-equipment companies in the country. In Springfield, Glessner rented a room with the Macbeth family, where he met and fell in love with Frances, a young schoolteacher. He rapidly advanced his station in Warder, Child & Co. Adept in the world of business, he seemed destined for success.20


In 1869, the firm’s principals decided to open an office in Chicago to increase their share of agricultural markets in the Midwest. Glessner asked to head the new operation, so long as he was given authority to run the business as he saw fit, and he was appointed as a vice president of the company. He and Frances were married at her parents’ home in Springfield, then, after a visit to his parents in Zanesville, they took the train to begin their new lives in Chicago.


On 2 October 1871, one week before the Great Chicago Fire that destroyed almost a third of the city, the Glessners celebrated the birth of their first child, George Macbeth. A daughter, Frances, arrived on 25 March 1878. A plump and healthy baby, she was known as Fanny.


As Glessner’s career advanced, his personal wealth grew accordingly. As a junior partner, his share of the company’s profits in 1877 was $39,600 – close to £700,000 in present-day value. By the time he was forty years old, Glessner was a dollar millionaire, with a net worth of about £21 million in today’s currency. He was among the wealthiest men in Chicago.


Eventually, five major agricultural machinery companies – including Warder, Bushnell & Glessner (the successor of Warder, Child & Co.) – merged to form the International Harvester Company. At its inception, the company was valued at $150 million – over two and a half billion pounds in modern terms. By then the last active principal of Warder, Bushnell & Glessner, John Jacob Glessner was elected chairman of International Harvester’s executive committee. He suddenly owned a piece of the largest manufacturing company in the world, and his family’s security was set for generations.


This wealth allowed Frances Macbeth and John Jacob to indulge their shared passions for music and the arts. They enjoyed live performances, attending the opera and musical events at venues throughout Chicago, and raised George and Fanny to appreciate the same fine arts. Most of all, the Glessners enjoyed classical symphonic music. John Jacob was one of a group of prominent Chicagoans who provided the funding to establish the Chicago Symphony Orchestra in 1891. He was a staunch supporter and benefactor of the orchestra for the rest of his life.


The Glessners were also enthusiasts of cultural and intellectual self-improvement. John Jacob was active in the Literary Club, while Frances Macbeth took lessons in literature, French, Italian and German. They enjoyed acquiring fine furniture, art and decorative objects for their home.


During a visit to the Interstate Industrial Exposition in 1875, the Glessners admired black walnut furniture carved by Isaac Scott.21 Scott was an artist, woodworker and designer particularly known for art furniture. The Glessners commissioned him to build a bookcase for their home. It was the beginning of a close personal friendship that lasted the remainder of Scott’s life. Over a period of years, he designed furniture, pottery, picture frames, embroidered works, pewter and other decorative items for the family.


Such wealth seemed to assure a life of comfort and security for the Glessner children.




CHAPTER 2


The Sunny Street of the Sifted Few


1878–1898


Privilege is no immunity to misfortune. George Glessner developed severe hay fever at around the age of four. By the time Fanny was born, his doctor advised the family to spend summers away from the filthy, pollen-filled air of Chicago and take George to the country for respite from his symptoms.


The Glessners heard about an area in the White Mountains of New Hampshire with a reputation for being practically pollen-free. Frances Macbeth had taken ill since Fanny’s birth, so in the summer of 1878 she remained in Chicago with the baby while George was sent to New Hampshire with Frances’s sisters, Helen and Lizzie.


After a two-day train ride, the group arrived in Littleton, New Hampshire, about 40km (25 miles) west of Mount Washington. George experienced little relief from his symptoms, until Helen Macbeth consulted a local homeopath who concluded that George wasn’t ‘far enough into the mountains’. He recommended a hotel about 22km (14 miles) away, the Twin Mountain House. ‘Aunt Helen made the move and George was very much better almost overnight,’ Fanny recalled in her journal many years later.1 She described the Twin Mountain House as a ‘great barn of a place’. It was an impressively grand three-storey wood-frame structure, with the upper floor boasting a steeply sloping mansard roof. ‘Of course there was no plumbing.’2


Many guests, including the Glessner family, returned to the Twin Mountain House summer after summer. John Jacob remained in Chicago for much of the time, but made frequent visits. Another regular was Henry Ward Beecher, a celebrated clergyman who was also an outspoken abolitionist and suffragist (and brother of Harriet Beecher Stowe, author of the hugely successful anti-slavery novel Uncle Tom’s Cabin). Beecher had recently been embroiled in scandal, his reputation soiled by an adulterous relationship with his assistant’s wife and the subsequent high-profile lawsuit brought by the wronged husband.3


At Twin Mountain House, five-year-old Fanny befriended Beecher. ‘He took a fancy to me as I did to him,’ she recalled. ‘In the middle of the morning he would go into the bar for a lemonade and often took me with him. I would sit on his knee with a little glass of ice-cold lemonade.’4


One morning, during a visit with his family, John Jacob walked down the stairs and saw Fanny and Beecher sitting together, having their lemonades. He stopped in his tracks, disapproving of his young daughter being in the company of unsavoury characters. He spoke with his wife. ‘My dear, a summer hotel is not a good place to bring up children,’ he told her. ‘I think if we’re going to have to come up here year after year for George’s hay fever, that we will have to have a home of our own.’5


Touring the area in a horse-drawn buggy, the Glessners found a prominent hill that had been cleared of timber, leaving a rough, rocky pasture strewn with boulders. The view was spectacular, with Mount Washington to the east and the towns of Bethlehem, Littleton and Scythefactoryville spread out below. For $23,000 – about £430,000 in today’s terms – they purchased a hundred acres of farmland, which included a farmhouse and a few assorted ramshackle buildings. On this property, Isaac Scott designed a nineteen-room mansion built on a high prominence overlooking the White Mountains. It was completed by the summer of 1883 at a cost of $10–15,000 – approximately £190,000–280,000 by modern values. The Glessners named their new summer home The Rocks; among themselves it was ‘the Big House’. According to the Littleton Gazette, it was ‘the finest summer residence in the mountains’, with ‘one of the finest and most extensive views of any house in the mountains’.6 It would become one of the most important places in the Glessners’ lives for many decades to come.


Scott then designed a carriage barn with a granite foundation and wood-shingle siding, which was completed in 1884. He designed many buildings and structures for The Rocks, including an apiary for Frances Macbeth’s beekeeping and several gazebo-like summerhouses that dotted the estate, connected by walking trails.7 For young Fanny, he created something truly special: her own two-room log-cabin playhouse, complete with a kitchen with a working wood-burning stove.


In the neighbouring villages of Littleton and Bethlehem, there were distinct class differences between townsfolk who had lived in the area for generations and wealthier newcomers such as the Glessners who purchased summer homes at the higher, more picturesque elevations. ‘Up the hill’ referred to the seasonal residents; those who lived there year round were ‘down the hill’. Locals couldn’t understand why somebody would prefer to build a grand house way up in the mountains, in the middle of nowhere, far from town amenities. Sensing their curiosity, Frances Macbeth invited local residents to visit The Rocks and meet the family. She made elaborate preparations for her guests, having a huge black fruitcake sent from Delmonico’s restaurant in New York and stocking her cellar with fine French wines.8


One day, a mountain wagon drawn by four horses brought about sixteen guests from the Twin Mountain House to call on the Glessners. Frances had the wine and fruitcake brought out and served.9 Fanny recalled later in life that ‘Each lady looked at the cake and with turned up nose said, “No thank you” until one lady braver than the others took both cake and wine and then said, “Better take some, Mrs Devoe, it’s pretty good.”’


The visitors peppered the Glessners with questions. Don’t you get lonely up here? Do you get anything to eat up here? ‘We were always so glad to see them go and so annoyed when they came,’ Fanny said.


For a while, visiting The Rocks became something to do, to go and see what the Glessners were up to. Wagonloads of locals and seasonal visitors came around at random intervals, much to the family’s annoyance. Matters came to a head one day when a wagon full of tourists pulled up to the kitchen window and ordered a pitcher of lemonade. The cook, in no subtle terms, refused. Fanny took great pleasure in telling the story to her parents, who had a pair of formal stone gateposts installed (the gate was never closed) with a sign that read The PUBLIC is Requested Not to Enter These Grounds.


Around this time, the Glessners began to think about having a home designed and built for them in Chicago. They wanted a house that reflected their tastes and style and in its way contributed to the architectural renaissance of post-fire Chicago. Having looked at several neighbourhoods, they settled on acquiring a plot of land on the southwest corner of Prairie Avenue and 18th Street, near the city’s South Side.


Some of the finest homes in Chicago were on Prairie Avenue. The street was lined with magnificent mansions framed by manicured lawns and sculpted gardens, with majestically sweeping staircases leading to porches or grand entrances.10


John Jacob wanted an architect of note for his new home.11 Henry Hobson Richardson,12 along with Louis Sullivan and Frank Lloyd Wright, was one of the leaders in the field. After graduating from Harvard, he went to Paris in 1860 to attend the famed École des Beaux-Arts – only the second American to attend the École’s architectural division.


The style that Richardson developed for his designs, like Isaac Scott’s with its allusions to medieval elements, was so distinctive that it is known as Richardsonian Romanesque. Characteristics common to Richardson’s buildings include thick walls, semicircular stone arches and clusters of squat columns.


Glessner regarded Richardson highly but had been informed by friends that he only undertook monumental buildings – Boston’s Trinity Church, the Buffalo State Asylum for the Insane and Albany’s City Hall, among others. Glessner decided to contact the architect anyway, telling him that he’d heard he didn’t do private residences.


‘I’ll plan anything a man wants, from a cathedral to a chicken coop,’ Richardson replied. ‘That’s the way I make my living.’13


Richardson visited the Glessners’ Washington Street residence to gain a sense of the family’s circumstances. He and John Jacob sat in the library to discuss the latter’s needs and wants for his new home. On the mantel was a small photograph of a historic building at Abingdon Abbey in Oxfordshire, England.


‘Do you like that?’ Richardson asked, gesturing to the photo.


‘Yes,’ Glessner replied.


‘Well, give it to me,’ Richardson said. ‘I’ll make that the keynote of your house.’


Later, driving to view the Prairie Avenue site, Richardson sat in silence in the carriage. After several minutes, he blurted out, ‘Have you the courage to build the house without windows on the street front?’


‘Yes,’ Glessner said without hesitation, knowing that he could tear up the plans if they were not to his satisfaction.


The men agreed to discuss plans for the house during dinner at the Glessners’ the following night.


Frances Macbeth painted a vivid portrait of Richardson in her journal, describing him as ‘the largest man I have ever seen’. Concerned about resting his girth on the Glessners’ fine furniture, he insisted on sitting on a piano stool during his visit.14


‘He parts his hair in the middle,’ Frances Macbeth wrote. ‘He stutters and spatters – breathes very heavily – and aside from his profession is not what I would call an interesting man.’


After dinner was served, Richardson took a scrap of paper and began sketching in pencil. He drew a large L shape, marked the location of entrances and filled the shape with boxes to represent rooms. Within minutes, he had designed the first floor of the house, almost exactly as it was ultimately built.


‘He was the most versatile, interesting, ready, capable and confident of artists, the most genial and agreeable of companions,’ Glessner said of him. ‘He delighted in difficult problems.’


Richardson’s plan was a stark departure from typical residential architecture of the time. It was certainly unlike any other home on Prairie Avenue. Rather than framing a welcoming front garden, the north and east exterior walls were almost at the pavement property line. Rows of rusticated Wellesley granite blocks in contrasting colours emphasized the building’s horizontal lines. The long side of the house, on 18th Street, had a few narrow windows on the first floor and a service entrance sheltered by a semicircular arch. The main entrance, on Prairie Avenue, was understated, almost plain; there was no staircase, no veranda: just a modest street-level door of heavy oak. Stylized columns supported another semicircular arch, smaller than the service entrance. With only small square windows at street level, the public was presented with broad, flat, relatively unornamented walls.


From the outside, the house looked institutional, like a prison or hospital. What the public couldn’t see was that it wrapped around a large private courtyard. All the landscaped spaces were within the courtyard, away from public view, giving the family their own private oasis in the city.


Just inside the front door, a 3.5m (12ft) wide staircase led to a foyer large enough to be a hotel lobby. There was enough room in the 1,700m2 (18,000sq.ft) house for a formal dinner with more than a hundred guests, which the family eventually hosted many times.15


Richardson placed the main family rooms in the interior of the house, facing the courtyard. Windows on the southern side bathed the living spaces with warm light. Most of the rooms had two or more entryways, allowing household staff to move discreetly through the house. A hallway along the north side, used primarily by staff, insulated the family from street noise and Chicago’s bitter winter winds.


Railroad-car maker and immensely wealthy industrialist George Pullman, who lived diagonally across the street in one of the largest and grandest homes in the neighbourhood, said, ‘I don’t know what I have ever done to have that thing staring at me in the face every time I go out of my door.’


A newspaper cutting from 10 July 1886 made note of the unusual addition to the avenue:




Prairie Ave. is a social street and also a gossipy one and it does not suit the neighbours that this newcomer should exclude all possibility of watching his windows and finding out what may be going on within doors… that this house is going up in spite of disapproval has thrown the neighbourhood into a state of stupefaction.16
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